IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 81224

DIAMOND NATURAL RESOURCES PROTECTION & CONSERVATION ASSOCIATION; J&T FARMS, LLC; GALLAGHER FARMS LLC; JEFF LOMMORI; M&C HAY; CONLEY LAND & LIVESTOCK, LLC; JAMES ETCHEVERRY; NICK ETCHEVERRY; TIM HALPIN; SANDI HALPIN; DIAMOND VALLEY HAY COMPANY, INC.; MARK MOYLE FARMS LLC; D.F. & E.M. PALMORE FAMILY TRUST; WILLIAM H. NORTON; PATRICIA NORTON; SESTANOVICH HAY & CATTLE, LLC; JERRY ANDERSON; BILL BAUMAN; DARLA BAUMAN; TIM WILSON, P.E., NEVADA STATE ENGINEER, DIVISION OF WATER RESOURCES, DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION AND NATURAL RESOURCES; AND EUREKA COUNTY;

Appellants,

v.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the district court’s order granting the petitions for judicial review filed by Respondents Timothy Lee and Constance Marie Bailey, Fred and Carolyn Bailey (“the Baileys”), Ira R. and Montira Renner (“Renner”), and Sadler Ranch (“Sadler”) challenging Order #1302 issued by the Nevada State Engineer, which approved the Diamond Valley Groundwater Management Plan (“GMP”).¹ The district court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Order Granting Petitions for Judicial Review (“PJR Order”) on April 27, 2020. XI(2381-2420).² Notices of entry of that order were filed on April 30, 2020. XII(2421-2507).

Diamond Natural Resources Protection and Conservation Association (“DNRPCA”); J&T Farms, LLC; Gallagher Farms LLC; Jeff Lommori; M&C Hay; Conley Land & Livestock, LLC; James Etcheverry; Nick Etcheverry; Tim Halpin; Sandi Halpin; Diamond Valley Hay Company, Inc.; Mark Moyle Farms LLC; D.F. & E.M. Palmore Family Trust; William H. Norton; Patricia Norton; Sestanovich Hay & Cattle, LLC; Jerry Anderson; Bill Bauman; and Darla Bauman (collectively, “the DNRPCA Appellants”) filed their notice of appeal on May 14,

¹ The other Respondents in the caption intervened in the district court case but did not participate in the proceedings below. They have been identified by the Court as “Respondents”; however, they did not challenge the GMP.

² All citations to the joint appendix are in the form volume number(page numbers). Where a specific line number is referenced, it is preceded by a colon (:).

2020. XII(2508-2554). The State Engineer filed a notice of appeal on May 15, 2020, and Eureka County filed a notice of appeal on May 21, 2020. XIII(2704-2797); XIV(2808-2811). Under NRAP 4(a)(1), these appeals were timely. Because the PJR Order was a final judgment, appellate jurisdiction exists under NRAP 3A(b)(1) and NRS 533.450(9).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This is an administrative agency case involving water and therefore should be retained by the Supreme Court. NRAP 17(a)(8). It also involves the Court's first opportunity to interpret NRS 534.110(7) and NRS 534.037, which were enacted by the Legislature in 2011 to address overpumping in the State's groundwater basins. These provisions authorized stakeholders in a basin that the State Engineer designates a Critical Management Area ("CMA") to develop a groundwater management plan to prevent the State Engineer from enforcing water right priorities and forcing the shut-off of junior rights. Because there are numerous groundwater basins in Nevada where groundwater pumping exceeds the sustainable yield of the aquifer, this case presents an issue of statewide importance that warrants retention by the Supreme Court. *See* NRAP 17(a)(12).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Should the district court have affirmed the State Engineer's Order #1302 approving the Diamond Valley Groundwater Management Plan because Order

#1302 was supported by substantial evidence in the record, constituted a proper exercise of the State Engineer's discretion and complied with the NRS 534.037?

INTRODUCTION

In places like Eureka County, individuals' livelihoods and the local economy depend upon limited water supplies. Previous State Engineers issued more permits than groundwater basins could sustain because, historically, not all appropriators were successful with their farming efforts. Improved well technology and access to electricity made farming more successful, resulting in overappropriation of aquifers throughout the State.

Long ago, Nevada adopted the doctrine of prior appropriation, meaning "first in time, first in right." Under strict application of the prior appropriation doctrine, in times of shortage, more "junior" water users cannot exercise their rights. For surface water, the prior appropriation doctrine evolved as common law. As to groundwater, however, the prior appropriation doctrine applies by statute. To use groundwater, a would-be appropriator must apply for a permit from the State Engineer, with the priority date being the date of the application. Once the groundwater permit holder proves beneficial use, the State Engineer issues a certificate.

In simplest terms, a groundwater basin is essentially a bathtub, in which a shortage exists when the rights exceed the amount of water that can be sustainably

withdrawn over the long term, known as the basin's perennial yield. In Diamond Valley, the State Engineer has estimated the perennial yield as 30,000 acre-feet (af) annually, making May 12, 1960 the cut-off between "senior" and "junior" appropriators because that is the date on which the State Engineer had cumulatively issued 30,000 af of groundwater permits. II(316-317).

If enforced in an overappropriated groundwater basin, the prior appropriation doctrine could require that any water users whose rights are more junior than the date on which the perennial yield is exceeded be cut off completely. This is known as curtailment by priority. In Diamond Valley, anyone with rights that were appropriated after May 12, 1960 could be curtailed completely if the prior appropriation doctrine were strictly enforced. II(316-317, 319 n.15); IV(812-814). More than 80% of the permits and certificates in Diamond Valley have priority dates more recent than May 12, 1960. IV(812-822). Understandably, the State Engineer has been hesitant to enforce priorities and cut off more "junior" appropriators in Diamond Valley and elsewhere because doing so would result in devastating economic and social impacts throughout Nevada, which would not be in the best interests of the public.

In light of these draconian effects, the Legislature has created certain exceptions to the prior appropriation doctrine. It did so again in 2011 by enacting AB 419, which is codified as NRS 534.037 and NRS 534.110(7). This legislation

authorized the State Engineer to designate as a CMA any basin where water withdrawals consistently exceed groundwater recharge. A CMA designation allows stakeholders to develop a groundwater management plan to avoid curtailment by priority:

[I]f a basin has been designated as a critical management area for at least 10 consecutive years, the State Engineer shall order that withdrawals, including, without limitation, withdrawals from domestic wells, be restricted in that basin to conform to priority rights, ***unless a groundwater management plan has been approved for the basin pursuant to NRS 534.037.***

NRS 534.110(7) (emphasis added). NRS 534.037 sets forth the procedure and criteria for approval of a groundwater management plan.

The Diamond Valley GMP is the first plan developed and approved under these statutes. It was supported by a majority of groundwater permit and certificate holders, including senior rights that, under the prior appropriation rules, would not be subject to curtailment. They made an individual sacrifice for the common good.

Out of all the senior groundwater rights holders who are subject to the GMP, only the Baileys mounted a legal challenge to it. Renner and Sadler's challenges are based on their claims of vested rights to springs whose flows have decreased over time, even though, at Renner and Sadler's request, those rights have been, or can be, mitigated with groundwater. Nothing in the record supports the district court's conclusion that implementation of the GMP will impair vested rights.

The district court concluded that the GMP complies with the statutory requirements, the State Engineer properly considered the factors in NRS 534.037(2) when approving the GMP, and substantial evidence supported his decision. Yet, notwithstanding its acknowledgement that the GMP satisfied the legislative mandates, the district court struck down the GMP. To reach that result, the district court relied on matters outside the administrative record, made unsupported “findings,” issued inconsistent legal conclusions, and failed to effectuate the Legislature’s intent. If the district court’s rationale were accepted, no groundwater management plan would be acceptable unless it requires immediate curtailment of all junior rights. This renders NRS 534.110(7) meaningless. For these reasons, reversal of the PJR Order and reinstatement of the GMP is warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 11, 2019, the State Engineer issued Order #1302 approving the GMP. II(315-332). The Baileys, Renner and Sadler (collectively, “the GMP Opponents”) filed petitions for judicial review of Order #1302. I(001-0144). On April 27, 2020, the district court issued the PJR Order granting their petitions. XI(2381-2420). The DNRPCA Appellants, Eureka County and the State Engineer appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Overview of the Diamond Valley Community

Diamond Valley is a groundwater-dependent farming community in the Diamond Valley Hydrographic Basin, located in southern Eureka County, Nevada. III(538). There are approximately 26,000 acres of irrigated land, which primarily produce premium-quality alfalfa and grass hay. II(315); III(538). Based on a 2013 estimate, approximately 110,000 tons of hay are produced annually for a total farming income of approximately \$22.4 million. II(315); III(538).

Many of the Diamond Valley farmers are from families who settled the area and started to work the land in the 1950's and early 1960's. II(346, 396); IV(853, 854, 904); V(1050-1051). During that time, the drilling and pumping of wells greatly expanded. II(346, 396). Hundreds of applications to appropriate groundwater were filed in that time period, most within weeks or months of one another. IV(812-819). The difference between a "junior" and "senior" in Diamond Valley can be a matter of just a few days. IV(814).

On paper, about 126,000 acre-feet of irrigation groundwater rights are appropriated in Diamond Valley. II(316); III(538). As of 2016, however, groundwater pumping was approximately 76,000 acre-feet per year. II(316); III(538). The discrepancy between the permitted rights and the actual pumpage is

largely due to farmers having installed more efficient center pivots that irrigate in a circle so that corners of the farm are no longer irrigated.³ IV(778, 799).

Based upon available hydrologic information, the State Engineer has established the perennial yield for every groundwater basin in the State. The perennial yield is the maximum amount of groundwater that can be extracted each year over the long term without depleting the aquifer. The State Engineer currently estimates 30,000 acre-feet per year as the perennial yield of the Diamond Valley Basin.⁴ II(316, 448); III(538). Nevertheless, annual groundwater pumping has exceeded the perennial yield of Diamond Valley for over 40 years, and prior to implementation of the GMP, groundwater levels had declined on average two feet per year since 1960. II(316, 451); III(538).

If the State Engineer were to limit pumping in Diamond Valley to 30,000 acre-feet per year, any appropriations for any use with priority dates more recent than May 12, 1960 would need to cease, a process known as “curtailment by priority.” II(316-317, 319, 328); III(531). That amounts to nearly 300 permits, many of which have priority dates within days, weeks or months of this cut-off date. IV(812-822). Any groundwater rights that have a priority date on or before

³ In this respect, the district court’s statement that 130,265 acre feet annually “impact the aquifer [*sic*]” is inaccurate. XI(2384:12-13).

⁴ A recent study by the U.S. Geological Survey posits that the perennial yield is 35,000 acre-feet per year. II(330); III(538); V(1143).

the May 12, 1960 cut-off are deemed “senior” and any groundwater rights that have a priority date more recent than May 12, 1960 are deemed “junior.” II(317).

As an example, for the last 60 years, both Appellant J&T Farms, LLC and Respondents Fred and Carolyn Bailey and their predecessors have been farming their land using duly issued groundwater permits. IV(814). The Baileys have permits with a May 3, 1960 priority date while J&T Farms has a permit with a May 16, 1960 priority date. IV(814). Long after the State Engineer authorized their respective appropriations, he established a 30,000 acre-foot perennial yield for Diamond Valley that sorted these long-time water users into “seniors” and “juniors.” II(448-451). Now, even though the Bailey applications were filed just 13 *days* before the J&T Farms application, the Bailey permits are “senior” while the J&T Farms permit is “junior.” IV(814). As a result, under strict curtailment by priority, the Baileys would be able to pump the entire duty under these permitted rights, whether or not they were using that water efficiently, while J&T Farms would be cut off entirely. IV(814).

While the primary groundwater usage is irrigation, nearly two-thirds of Eureka County’s residents receive their domestic water needs from groundwater, including most of the water needed by the town of Eureka to serve numerous businesses and the Eureka County schools, two General Improvement Districts, and domestic wells. III(538). Curtailment would severely restrict withdrawals from

domestic wells. *See* NRS 534.110(8)-(9). Groundwater also supplies water needs for mines and other commercial and industrial uses in Diamond Valley. III(538). In addition, there are multiple stockwatering wells that supply the water for many livestock operations. III(538).

B. The Diamond Valley Community Engaged in a Multi-Year Effort to Develop a Management Plan to Reduce Pumping and Stabilize the Groundwater Level

Recognizing the need to stabilize the groundwater level and reduce pumping, water users in Diamond Valley came together in 2010 to form DNRPCA to, among other things, protect, conserve and promote the harmonious use of groundwater in Diamond Valley. I(213). The State Engineer held workshops in March 2009 and again in February 2014 to engage in discussions with Diamond Valley irrigators regarding potential solutions to the overdraft conditions. III(539, 601). The GMP evolved out of the State Engineer's efforts to get stakeholder involvement in the Diamond Valley groundwater management process. III(539, 628).

Starting in March 2014, many groundwater rights holders, primarily irrigators, started discussions related to a GMP. III(539). The group held a meeting and decided to request that the Eureka Conservation District ("ECD"), a locally elected, third-party government entity, take the lead role in facilitating the process, which ECD accepted. III(539). DNRPCA and its members worked extensively

with Eureka County, ECD, the Eureka Producers Cooperative and individual irrigators (collectively, “Planning Process Participants”) on a GMP to address overdraft conditions in Diamond Valley. II(315, 327); III(530)-IV(840).

The Planning Process Participants explored various means to reduce water demands. III(569, 601-602, 604, 628, 680, 711). For example, in June 2013, ECD engaged Hansford Economic Consulting to conduct a study to assess the financial feasibility of developing a General Improvement District that would assess fees on farmers to purchase and retire water rights. III(601, 628). In May 2014, ECD again engaged Hansford Economic Consulting to conduct a study of potential water use set-aside programs for Diamond Valley, in which, rather than retire water rights entirely, farmers would be paid not to farm for a limited time. III(601).

Additionally, ECD contracted with Walker & Associates (“Walker”) in May 2014 to assist in scoping the GMP. III(539). ECD sent a letter to every groundwater right holder and all known domestic well holders in Diamond Valley to inform them that Walker would be hosting facilitated workshops and private meetings (if requested) to identify the issues, hurdles, and opportunities that stakeholders believed were relevant to development of a GMP, including potential strategies to reduce pumping. III(539). Walker held many facilitated public workshops and private meetings, collecting comments and ideas for what a successful GMP would look like. III(539, 562-589); III(590)-IV(788).

Also in 2014, various Planning Process Participants researched water plans, agreements, and programs that had been employed in other areas where overappropriation was an issue. III(565-566, 569, 607). These were also discussed in the scoping process. III(565-566, 569, 572, 578). In 2015, Steve Lewis of the University of Nevada Cooperative Extension began to facilitate sessions with stakeholders to develop a GMP. III(539); III(590)-IV(788). At that time, the Planning Process Participants established a goal to have a draft GMP completed within 18 months. III(590). The Planning Process Participants formed a committee to keep the process moving forward and to communicate with stakeholders. III(540, 629).

Under the authority of AB 419 (2011) codified in NRS 534.110(7), on August 25, 2015, the State Engineer designated Diamond Valley as the State's first CMA. II(447-451). According to the statutory mandate, this designation started a ten-year time period for groundwater rights holders to develop a GMP. III(538), *citing* NRS 534.110(7). The Planning Process Participants met regularly from spring 2015, working to ensure the GMP included provisions for, among other things, governance, pumping reductions, recognition of vested rights, overdraft conditions, metering, efficiency, funding and compliance. III(539-541); III(590)-IV(788).

In February 2016, the Planning Process Participants elected a Groundwater Management Plan Advisory Board (“AB”) by nomination and majority vote. III(540, 543, 590). Thereafter, the AB took over much of the responsibility for facilitating the GMP process from the professional facilitators. III(540). The AB made recommendations to groundwater rights holders for their consideration. III(540). From February 2016 until submittal of the GMP to the State Engineer in August 2018, there were an additional twenty-three formal AB meetings and twenty formal full-group meetings. III(540); III(590)-IV(788).

During this process, the groundwater rights holders entertained various possible solutions to the overdraft problem and received presentations on the potential development and implementation of a water market-based system meant to provide flexibility in using water, while incentivizing conservation and allowing willing participants to quickly sell, lease, and move water when needed. III(540). Using a consensus-based approach to the extent possible, the Planning Process Participants developed the GMP to adapt these concepts to local needs, desires, and constraints. II(331-332); III(539-540, 576); III(590)-IV(788); IV(901).

As this history shows, the GMP process was initiated by the local community years before the State Engineer declared the basin a CMA in 2015, and then continued for an additional three years after the designation. II(327); III(539); III(590)-IV(788). It was a grass-roots effort, involving hundreds of hours of

meetings and intense efforts over many years, that sought to solve a community-wide problem. II(315, 327-328); III(590)-IV(788); V(1026-1028).

C. A Majority of Groundwater Permit and Certificate Holders, Including Those Who Hold Senior Rights, Petitioned for Approval of the GMP

As required by NRS 534.037, a majority of groundwater permit and certificate holders petitioned the State Engineer to approve the GMP on August 20, 2018. II(461)-III(529); III(530)-IV(840). Importantly, significant portions of both senior and junior rights were represented in the petition. II(316-317); II(461)-III(529). Of the 77 senior permits or certificates, 46.8%, were represented by at least one signature on the petition. II(317); II(461)-III(529). The remaining 342 water right permits or certificates were junior, 64.6% of which were represented by at least one signature on the petition. II(317); II(461)-III(529). Of the 29,325 acre-feet that are deemed senior rights, 18,700 acre feet, or about 64%, were represented by signatories on the petition. II(317); II(461)-III(529). In other words, the proponents of the GMP include numerous seniors whose water rights, under the prior appropriation doctrine, would be unaffected by future curtailment actions. Indeed, a number of the Appellants who are now urging this Court to uphold the GMP hold senior rights. *Compare* IV(812-814) to caption.

On January 11, 2019, after receiving written public comments and conducting a public hearing pursuant to NRS 534.037, the State Engineer approved

the GMP. II(315-332). In doing so, the State Engineer noted the extensive efforts that went into the GMP that was submitted for consideration:

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