Case No. 81224

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DIAMOND NATURAL RESOURCES PROTECTION & CONSERVATION ASSOCIATION: J&T FARMS, LLC: GALLAGHER FARMS, LLC; JEFF LOMMORI; M&C HAY; CONLEY LAND & LIVESTOCK, LLC; JAMES ETCHEVERRY; NICK ETCHEVERRY; TIM HALPIN; SANDI HALPIN; DIAMOND VALLEY HAY COMPANY, INC.; MARK MOYLE FARMS LLC; D.F. & E.M. PALMORE FAMILY TRUST; WILLIAM H. NORTON; PATRICIA NORTON; SESTANOVICH HAY & CATTLE, LLC; JERRY ANDERSON; BILL BAUMAN; DARLA BAUMAN; TIM WILSON, P.E., NEVADA STATE ENGINEER, DIVISION OF WATER RESOURCES, DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION AND NATURAL RESOURCES; AND EUREKA COUNTY.

Appellants,

VS.

DIAMOND VALLEY RANCH, LLC;
AMERICAN FIRST FEDERAL, INC.; BERG

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

⁴⁷ See, e.g., NRS 233B.135(3); Ranieri v. Catholic Cmty. Servs., 111 Nev. 1057, 901 P.2d 158 (1995); Maxwell v. State Indus. Ins. Sys., 109 Nev. 327, 849 P.2d 267 (1993); State Indus. Ins. Sys. v. Shirley, 109 Nev. 351, 849 P.2d 256 (1993); Clark Cty. Liquor & Gaming Licensing Bd. v. Simon & Tucker, Inc., 106 Nev. 96, 787 P.2d 782 (1990); McCracken v. Cory, 99 Nev. 471, 664 P.2d 349 (1983); Gandy v. State ex rel. Div. of Investigation & Narcotics, 96 Nev. 281, 607 P.2d 581 (1980).

⁴⁸ *Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe of Indians v. Ricci*, 126 Nev. at 525, 245 P.3d at 1148 (2010).

⁴⁹ Office of State Eng'r, Div. of Water Res. v. Curtis Park Manor Water Users Ass'n, 101 Nev. 30, 32, 692 P.2d 495, 497 (1985).

⁵⁰ Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe of Indians, 126 Nev. at 525, 245 P.3d at 1148 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

⁵¹ NRS 533.085.

⁵² Ormsby County v. Kearney, 37 Nev. 314, 142 P. 803, 810 (1914).

⁵³ Ormsby County, 37 Nev. 314, 142 P. at 810.

In addition, any deference given to the State Engineer's factual conclusions is pre-conditioned on "the fullness and fairness of the administrative proceedings."⁵⁴ This Court has stated that a judge should not hesitate to intervene in cases where the State Engineer's decision "is arbitrary, oppressive, or accompanied by a manifest abuse of discretion." ⁵⁵

ARGUMENT

I. <u>Prior Appropriation Is The Foundational Doctrine Of Nevada's Water Laws.</u>

Prior appropriation has been the basis of Nevada's water law since statehood. This doctrine applies a "first in time, first in right" principle to all appropriations of water.⁵⁶ Every water right, whether vested, permitted, or for a domestic well, is assigned a relative priority date. This priority date is an essential component of the water right that cannot be stripped away without damaging the right itself.⁵⁷

A. The Priority Date Of A Water Right Is Its Most Valuable Element.

1. The importance of priority

"[T]o deprive a person of his priority is to deprive him of a most valuable property right."⁵⁸ The priority date is the most important element in the 'bundle of rights' that we refer to as a water right.⁵⁹ This is especially true in the western United

⁵⁴ Revert v. Ray, 95 Nev. 782, 787, 603 P.2d 262, 264-65 (1979).

⁵⁵ *Revert*, 95 Nev. at 787, 603 P.2d at 264-265.

⁵⁶ Lobdell v. Simpson, 2 Nev. 274, 277 (1866) ("he has the best right who is first in time.").

⁵⁷ Wilson v. Happy Creek, Inc., 135 Nev. 301, 312,, 448 P.3d 1106, 1115 (2019).

⁵⁸ Whitmore v. Murray City, 154 P.2d 748, 751 (Utah 1944).

⁵⁹ Stuart Banner, AMERICAN PROPERTY: A HISTORY OF HOW, WHY, AND WHAT WE OWN 45 (2011) (describing the 'bundle of rights' theory of property).

States where water shortages occur with frequency. Because the relative priority date of a water right is so important, Courts have viewed "a priority in a water right [as] property in itself." This Court recently reinforced this view stating that "a loss of priority that renders rights useless 'certainly affects the rights' value' and 'can amount to a de facto loss of rights." "61

When a water right holder has a senior priority date, that holder is ensured that he will receive his water *during a time of water shortage*. This makes such rights more valuable than those with junior priority dates. Accordingly, holders of senior rights have a reasonable investment-backed expectation in the security that their priority date provides. Decisions regarding whether and how much to invest in a property are often based on the priority date of the water rights associated therewith precisely because that priority determines whether there will be a dependable source of water *in the event of a shortage*.

2. <u>Junior users cannot deprive senior users of their priority by simple majority vote.</u>

Appellants frame the DVGMP development process as a voluntary collaboration of water right holders working together to find a solution to the over-pumping problem. In reality, the DVGMP is little more than a scheme cooked up

⁶⁰ Colo. Water Conservation Bd. v. City of Central, 125 P.3d 424, 434 (Colo. 2005), Nichols v. McIntosh, 34 P. 278, 280 (Colo. 1893).

⁶¹ Happy Creek, Inc., 135 Nev. at 312, 448 P.3d at 1115 (citing Andersen Family Assocs., 124 Nev. at 190-91, 179 P.3d at 1206) (internal quotations omitted); see also Gregory J. Hobbs, Jr., Priority: The Most Misunderstood Stick in the Bundle, 32 Envtl. L. 37, 43 (2002) ("The priority of a water right is . . . its most important . . . feature.").

by junior right holders to abolish the priority rights of the senior water right holders.⁶² While "[o]ur democratic system of government is founded upon the notion that, in most instances, the views and wishes of the majority are entitled to prevail,"⁶³ this principle does not condone a majority using its voting power to forcibly confiscate the property of a minority group.

The prior appropriation doctrine already allows for the voluntary sale and movement of water rights.⁶⁴ Senior water right holders may voluntarily gift, sell, or lease their rights to a junior user to allow the junior to continue pumping in the event of a shortage. A properly designed groundwater management plan could support such voluntary exchanges. However, a groundwater management plan cannot *force* senior right holders to give up their priorities to benefit juniors.⁶⁵ And even if it could, just compensation would be required.⁶⁶

_

⁶² The fact that some senior water right holders voted in favor of the plan is not dispositive of this statement. Several individuals hold both junior and senior water rights in the basin. Some of these individuals will end up receiving more water under the GMP than they would just from their senior rights because of the much greater quantity of junior rights that they own. Accordingly, some seniors had an economic incentive to support the plan.

⁶³ Dudley v. Kerwick, 421 N.E.2d 797, 802 (N.Y. 1981).

⁶⁴ NRS 533.382, 533.345, 533.370.

⁶⁵ NEV. CONST. art. I, §22(1) ("Public use shall not include the direct or indirect transfer of any interest in property . . . from one private party to another private party."). The State Engineer has clearly stated that the plan is binding on all irrigation right holders even those who did not sign the petition or vote in favor of the plan. JA 0991:16 - JA 0992:2.

⁶⁶ NEV. CONST. art. I, §8(6) ("Private property shall not be taken for public use without just compensation having first been made"); U.S. CONST. amend. V ("nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation.").

During the early stages of development of the DVGMP, some participants thought the plan should include provisions for compensating senior right holders through a "water right buyout program." Some juniors even admitted they had opportunities to buy out seniors, but chose not to exercise this option. Instead, they opted to purchase less expensive junior priority rights and then advocate for a plan that takes water from seniors and redistributes it among the juniors.

Nothing in NRS 534.037 authorizes junior right holders to disregard the priority rights of seniors just because they hold a majority of the voting power. As the esteemed Justice Robert Jackson noted, a person's fundamental rights, including their property rights, "may not be submitted to a vote" and "depend on the outcome of no election." Because the priority date of a water right is valuable property in and of itself, it cannot be stripped away by a simple majority vote.

B. The Fact That The DVGMP Violates Prior Appropriation Doctrine Is Beyond Dispute.

The essence of the prior appropriation doctrine is often expressed as "first in time, first in right." In this way it operates much like the priority system for mortgages and other debt instruments. If, upon foreclosure of the security backing the debt there is not enough money to pay all lienholders (i.e. there is a shortage),

 $^{^{67}}$ JA Vol. III, JA0565, JA Vol. III, JA0566, JA Vol. III, JA0575, JA Vol. III, JA0578.

⁶⁸ JA Vol. V, JA1048:23 (Public Comment of Dusty Moyle).

⁶⁹ JA Vol. V, JA1048:15-16 (Public Comment of Dusty Moyle) ("in the last ten years I've been purchasing land and it's not been senior. It's been junior.").

⁷⁰ West Virginia State Board of Education v. Barnette, 319 U.S. 624, 638, 63 S.Ct. 1178, 1185-85 (1943).

⁷¹ Lobdell v. Simpson, 2 Nev. 274 (1866) ("he has the best right who is first in time.").

those with the most senior priority get the full value of their claims paid before junior lienholders get anything.

Order 1302 explicitly acknowledges that the DVGMP violates prior appropriation doctrine.⁷² Under the plan junior water users are allowed to keep pumping water even though seniors are not receiving their full duty. Therefore, this appeal should be dismissed.

II. NRS 534.037 Does Not Authorize Water Users To Write Their Own Personal Water Law.

The prior appropriation doctrine has been a fundamental element of Nevada's common law since statehood.⁷³ As such, any statute deviating from that doctrine must be strictly construed because "[t]he Legislature is presumed not to intend to overturn long-established principles of law when enacting a statute."⁷⁴ Therefore, "if a statute is ambiguous or its meaning uncertain, it should be construed in connection with the common law in force when the statute was enacted."⁷⁵

Nothing in the express language of NRS 534.037 indicates an intent by the Legislature to allow deviations from the prior appropriation doctrine. In fact, the

⁷² JA Vol. II, JA0319 ("the GMP does deviate from the strict application of the prior appropriation doctrine").

⁷³ See Lobdell v. Simpson, 2 Nev. 274 (1864) (recognizing and defining prior appropriative rights); see also JAMES H. DAVENPORT, NEVADA WATER LAW 6-12 (Colo. River Comm'n 2003) (describing the common law development of the prior appropriations doctrine in Nevada).

Happy Creek, Inc., 135 Nev. at 307, 448 P.3d at 1111 (citing Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp, 132 Nev. 49, 59, 366 P.3d 1105, 1112 (2016) (internal quotations and citations omitted)). See also Orr Ditch & Water Co. v. Justice Court of Reno TP., Washoe Cty., 64 Nev. 138, 164, 178 P.2d 558, 570 (1947).

⁷⁵ Orr Ditch & Water Co., 64 Nev. at 164, 178 P.2d at 570-71.

State Engineer readily admits that "the legislative history contains scarce direction concerning how a plan must be created or what the confines of any plan must be."⁷⁶ Therefore, to support his conclusion that the *Nevada* Legislature intended to deviate from prior appropriation, he relied exclusively on a *New Mexico* judicial opinion approving a settlement agreement between New Mexico, the United States, and several irrigation districts in an adjudication proceeding.⁷⁷ But, as the district court correctly noted, the New Mexico case is inapposite both legally and factually.⁷⁸

If the Legislature had intended to supplant the well-established doctrine of prior appropriation, it would have adopted clear language expressing that intent. But when such language was proposed, the Legislature rejected it. Accordingly, the State Engineer lacked authority to approve a GMP that deviates from prior appropriation doctrine and Order 1302 is invalid.

A. The Plain Language Of NRS 534.037 And 534.110(7) Does Not Abrogate Prior Appropriations.

The legislation that became NRS 534.037 and 534.110(7) was introduced to the Legislature in 2011 as AB 419. Section 1 of that bill contained the provisions codified as NRS 534.037, while Section 3 contained the language that would become NRS 534.110(7). The title of the bill states that its purpose is to:

[R]equir[e] the State Engineer to designate certain basins as critical management areas in certain circumstances; requir[e] the State Engineer to take certain actions in such

⁷⁷ JA Vol. II, JA0319 - JA0320.

⁷⁶ JA Vol. II, JA0319.

⁷⁸ JA Vol. XI, JA2409:15 - JA2410:19

a basin unless a groundwater management plan has been approved for the basin.

The relevant language in AB 419 that is at issue in this case states:

If a basin has been designated as a critical management area for at least 10 consecutive years, the State Engineer shall order that withdrawals . . . be restricted in that basin to conform to priority rights, unless a groundwater management plan has been approved for the basin pursuant to section 1 of this act.

This language is clear and unambiguous. If a groundwater plan is not adopted within 10 years of designating the basin as a critical management area, the State Engineer *must* order a curtailment by priority.

Appellants claim that the contingent clause "unless a groundwater management plan has been approved" somehow authorizes the state engineer to approve a plan that does not conform to prior appropriation doctrine. They argue that the contingent clause applies to the prepositional phrase "to conform to priority rights" and therefore if a plan is approved, conformance with priority rights is excused. Such a reading violates basic rules of grammar and logic.

Contingent clauses create exceptions to actions. By definition, actions are indicated by verbs and verb clauses, not prepositions. Here, the contingent clause is clearly providing an exception to the mandate that "the State Engineer shall order withdrawals . . . be restricted." In other words, if the contingent clause is met, and

⁷⁹ JA Vol. XI. JA2228.

a groundwater management plan has been approved, then the State Engineer is not required to issue an order curtailing pumping.⁸⁰ Otherwise, he is.

This becomes even more clear when NRS 534.110(7) is read side by side with the provision immediately preceding it, NRS 534.110(6).⁸¹ NRS 534.110(6) is the provision of the water law that grants the State Engineer a general power to curtail pumping:

[T]he State Engineer may order that withdrawals, including, without limitation, withdrawals from domestic wells, be restricted to conform to priority rights.

The only differences in the language between NRS 534.110(6) and NRS 534.110(7) are the two conditional clauses "If a basin has been designated as a critical management area for at least 10 consecutive years" and "unless a groundwater management plan has been approved for the basin pursuant to NRS 534.037" and the replacement of the discretionary "may" with the mandatory "shall". This indicates that the contingent clauses are merely describing the conditions under which the State Engineer's discretionary power becomes a mandatory duty and *not* creating a general exemption to the rule of prior appropriation.

Accordingly, the district court was correct when it stated that "there is no express language in either NRS 534.037 or NRS 534.110(7) stating a GMP can

23

⁸⁰ Respondents' assert that the contingent clause only removes the mandatory nature of the action. The State Engineer retains the ability to order a discretionary curtailment even if a groundwater management plan is approved.

⁸¹ JA Vol. XI, JA2227.

violate the doctrine of prior appropriation or that the doctrine is somehow abrogated."82 This conclusion is also consistent with the legislative history.

B. <u>Legislative History Does Not Support Appellants' Interpretation.</u>

The State Engineer's novel interpretation of NRS 534.037 conflicts with both legislative history and with his own prior statements. Understanding the timeline of events is crucial to placing the Legislative history in context.

As noted, NRS 534.037 and 534.110(7) became law in 2011.⁸³ Work on the DVGMP did not begin until February of 2014.⁸⁴ Initially, those efforts focused on conventional strategies for reducing water use.⁸⁵ But in June of 2015 things radically changed. At the behest of the State Engineer, Mike Young, an Australian academic, presented to the water users the share system scheme that would become the basis for the DVGMP.⁸⁶ After his presentation, the working group radically changed the goal of the project from implementing conservation measures to "changing our water rights system."⁸⁷ At the behest of the working group, in September 2015, Mr. Young published his "Blueprint" on how to apply his share system scheme to Diamond Valley.⁸⁸

⁸² JA Vol. XI, JA2411:11-13.

⁸³ JA Vol. II, JA0562; JA Vol. XI, JA2188.

⁸⁴ JA Vol. XI, JA2188.

⁸⁵ JA Vol. III, JA0566.

⁸⁶ JA Vol. XI, JA2189; JA Vol. XI, JA2247.

⁸⁷ JA Vol. III, JA0607.

⁸⁸ JA Vol. XI, JA2190; JA Vol. XI, JA2240.

Simply put, the Legislature in 2011 could not have contemplated that they were authorizing water users to completely change the water rights system and toss aside prior appropriation because that proposal was not raised until 2015.

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